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DENNI'S, Circuit Judge: *

Wl iamStephen Sol esbee appeal s his conviction for two counts
of bankruptcy fraud, eight counts of wre fraud, one count of noney
| aundering, and one count of bank fraud, all based on a jury
verdict. We REVERSE the conviction for bank fraud and AFFIRM the

ot her s.

" Pursuant to 5" QR R 47.5, the court has determ ned t hat
this opi nion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5" QR R 47.5. 4.

1



BACKGROUND

On January 24, 2001, the grand jury returned an indictnment

chargi ng Sol esbee with one count of bankruptcy fraud in violation
of 18 U . S.C. 8157; one count of transferring and conceal i ng assets
fromthe bankruptcy court, trustee, and creditors in violation of

18 U.S.C. 81952(7); eight counts of wire fraud in violation of 18

U S.C. 8§81343; one count of bank fraud in violation of 18 U S.C. §
1344; and two counts of noney | aundering in violation of 18 U S. C

8§1956(a)(1)(B)(l). The court dism ssed one noney | aundering count

during trial wupon the governnent’s notion, and the jury found

Sol esbee guilty of the remaining counts.

Count 1 (Bankruptcy Fraud)

As to Count 1, the indictnent charges the following. In My
1995, Sol esbee negotiated the purchase of a residence in Dallas
Texas and represented to the seller that the purchaser of the
property was the Gal |l oway Special Trust (“Trust”). Sol esbee cl ai ned
that he was the trustee and primary beneficiary of the trust.
Sol esbee provided the seller with a financial statenent for the
trust knowing that it contained materially false and fraudul ent

informati on concerning trust assets and liabilities.

Based on the materially fal se and fraudul ent representations

made by Sol esbee, the seller sold the residence to the Trust al ong
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W th sone personal property. Under the terns of the sale, the Trust
was required to make nonthly paynments of approximately $4,700 in
principal, interest, and property taxes. The Trust defaulted on the
first four nonthly paynents, and the seller gave notice of default
and posted the residence for foreclosure. Prior to the date noticed
for forecl osure, Sol esbee transferred the residence fromthe Trust
to hinself individually for no consideration. Solesbee then filed
Chapter 13 bankruptcy in the Bankruptcy Court for the Northern
District of Texas, Dallas Divison, Inre WIlliam$S. Sol esbee, No.
395- 35447- SAF- 13, to prevent foreclosure of the residence as well
as collection actions by other creditors through operation of the
bankruptcy automatic stay provision. Solesbee know ngly and
intentionally omtted information from his bankruptcy filing
concerning his creditors because di sclosure of those anobunts woul d

have made himineligible for chapter 13.

Thus, the indictnment charges that Solesbee intentionally
devi sed a schenme and artifice to defraud the seller, and for such
purpose know ngly filed a bankruptcy petition, preventing the
recovery of the residence while Sol esbee cl ai ned the protection of
the automatic stay provisions to avoid making paynents. Al so,
Sol esbee filed docunents in a bankruptcy proceeding containing

materially false statenents, all in violation of 18 U S. C. §157.

The jury charge adequately instructed the jury as to the alleged

of fense, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on Count 1.



Counts 2-6 (Wre Fraud)

As to Counts 2-6, the indictnment charged the foll ow ng. From
in or about January 1996 until July 1996, Sol esbee devised and
intended to devise a schene and artifice to defraud comerci al
airlines and hotels of their right to paynent for airline tickets
and hotel acconmobdati ons vouchers. Sol esbee began a travel agency,

| nperial Tours, which he operated fromhis personal residence. He
al so i ncorporated President’s Travel, Inc., a Texas corporation that

conduct ed busi ness as Inperial Tours.

Sol esbee planned and pronoted a neeting to be held at the
Al oha Bow in Hawaii called M ssion Meeting ‘96 (“MVB6"). MWB6 was
held July 26-31, 1996, and was attended by m ssionaries and
children of m ssionaries (“m ssionary kids”or “MKs”) fromall over

the United States. Travel arrangenents for MW6 attendees were

required to be nmade exclusively through Inperial Tours.

Around March 1, 1996, Sol esbee noved his operation for

| nperial Tours into the Bonaventure Travel Agency in Dallas and

began using Bonaventure’'s Airline Reporting Corporation account

(“ARC account”) at NationsBank in Dallas to pay for airline tickets
i ssued by Inperial Tours. On or about April 2, 1996, Sol esbee set
up a new ARC account under the nane of Bonaventure at Nati onsBank.

The ARC functions as a clearinghouse for travel agencies and



airlines. Travel agencies are required to maintain a bonded AR
account from which ARC debits the travel agency’s receipts to pay

the airlines for airline tickets that have been issued by the
travel agency and used for travel and for vouchers issued by the
travel agency and used to obtain hotel accommodations. Receipts
fromthe sale of airline tickets and hotel acconmmodations by a
travel agency are required to be deposited into the ARC account for

t hi s purpose.

Sol esbee caused paynents for airline tickets issued to persons
planning to attend MW6 to be <collected. He caused those
individuals to pay for the tickets by credit card charges payabl e
to Answer USA, an answering service controlled and operated by
Sol esbee. Wien the paynents were received by Answer USA on the

credit card charges, Sol esbee caused the wire transfer of funds in

Answer USA's acccount at MBNA Anerica Bank in WI m ngton, Del aware

to the account of President’s Travel, Inc., d.b.a. Inperial Tours
account at NationsBank in Dall as, Texas, instead of the Bonaventure
ARC account at NationsBank. Sol esbee al so caused the wire transfer
of paynents frompurchaser bank accounts to the President’s Travel,
Inc., d.b.a. Inperial Tours account at NationsBank, in Dallas,
Texas rather than to the ARC account. Sol esbee then caused paynents
from the Inperial Tours account to be made to his personal

creditors, thereby diverting funds from the ARC account and



defrauding the airlines of paynent for tickets and hotel vouchers
whi ch had been issued in connection with MMW6. The indi ctnent then

lists a nunber of these specific transfers, all made in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §81343. The jury charge adequately instructed the jury

as to the alleged offenses, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on

Counts 2-6.

Count 7 (Bankruptcy Fraud)

As to Count 7, the indictnent charged the foll ow ng. Sol esbee
owned and control | ed Stephens Comruni cations, Inc. (“SCl”), a Texas
corporation that operated tel ephone answering services under the
nanmes “Answer USA” and “Cascade Communi cations.” Around Septenber

10, 1997, Sol esbee caused the filing of a petition for voluntary
Chapter 11 bankruptcy for SCI in the U S. Bankruptcy Court in the
Northern District of Texas, Dallas Dwvision, In re Stephens
Commruni cations, Inc., Case No. 397-38422-HCA-11. Sol esbee signed
the voluntary petition as President of SCI. The bankruptcy case was
subsequently converted to a chapter 7 proceeding by order of the
Bankruptcy Court, and Jeff M ns was appointed as trustee. At al

times pertinent to this indictnent, the bankruptcy case was a case

under Title 11 of the United States Code.

Around Cctober 11, 1997, Sol esbee, with intent to defeat the
provisions of Title 11, did knowi ngly and fraudul ently transfer and

conceal and caused to be transferred and concealed from the
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bankruptcy court, trustee and creditors, certain property of the
bankruptcy estate, that being Cadcom answering service equi pnent
(previously purchased from Cascade) transferred to Answer Bay Area
for the sale price of $15,000. Sol esbee conceal ed the fraudul ent
transfer of the assets by failing to disclose this transfer to the

court and the trustee and by making the transfer w thout seeking
approval of the bankruptcy court in violation of 18 U . S.C. §8152(7).

The jury charge adequately instructed the jury as to the alleged

of fenses, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on Count 7.

Counts 8-9 (Money Launderi ng)

As to Counts 8 and 9, the indictnent charged the foll ow ng.
The grand jury incorporated the allegations of Count 7. Further, at
all tinmes pertinent to the indictnment, Sol esbee controlled Answer
USA GCeorgia, a Georgia corporation. Solesbee know ngly and
w llfully conducted and attenpted to conduct financial transactions
affecting interstate comerce that involved the proceeds of a

specified unlawful activity: bankruptcy fraud in violation of 18
US C 8 152(7), knowng that the financial transactions were

designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature,
source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of said specified

unlawful activity. The indictnment noted a 10/ 16/ 97 deposit of a
cashier’s check of $11,250 drawn on the Answer Bay Area, Inc.

Account at Central Bank of Tanpa, Florida to the account of Answer



USA of Georgia at NationsBank in Atlanta, Georgia, which was
partial paynment for the purchase of Cadcom equi pnent belonging to
t he bankruptcy estate of SCI. The indictnent also noted a 10/ 20/ 97
wire transfer of $3,000 between the same accounts as parti al
paynment for the Cadcomequi pnent bel onging to the bankruptcy estate
of SCI. Al these acts were taken in violation of 18 U S. C 8§
1956(a)(1)(B)(1). The district court dism ssed Count 9 upon the
governnents notion. Wether or not the indictnent sufficiently
instructed the jury as to Count 8 is a topic of discussion bel ow

The jury found Sol esbee guilty on Count 8.

Count 10 (Wre Fraud)

As to count 10, the indictnent charged as follows. Around
April 1997 t hrough Sept enber 1997, Sol esbee devi sed and i ntended to
devi se a schene and artifice to defraud Sylvian G een of funds and
property. Sol esbee persuaded Green to invest her noney in his
busi ness, Stephens Communi cations, Inc. (“SCI”) and to | oan noney
to SCI. Sol esbee represented to Green that she woul d recei ve a hi gh
rate of return on her investnent and that the return of her
i nvestment would be guaranteed by him personally. Sol esbee made
material false representations to G een concerning SCl to persuade
her to provide himwth funds when he was in fact obtaining the

funds for his own personal use. As part of this schene, Sol esbee

caused a wire transfer of $30,000 to be transmtted from G een’s



account at Union Planters Bank in Crystal Springs, Mssissippi to

t he account of SClI at NationsBank in Dallas, Texas, in violation of
18 U.S. C. 81343. The jury charge adequately instructed the jury as

to the all eged of fense, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on Count

10.

Count 11 (Bank Fraud)

As to count 11, the indictnent charged Sol esbee with know ngly
executing and attenpting to execute a schene and artifice to
defraud Bank One, a federally-insured financial institution. The
i ndi ct ment charged t hat Sol esbee caused check nunber 1122, drawn on
the account of SCI d.b.a. V.I.P. Answering Service at Bank One, to
be drawn payable to the City of Dallas in the anount of $7, 644. 27,
for property taxes on his residence, when Sol esbee knew t he account

had previously been closed for lack of funds in violation of 18
U S. C 81344. The jury charge adequately instructed the jury as to

the alleged offense, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on Count

11.

Counts 12-13 (Wre Fraud)

As to counts 12 and 13, the indictnent alleged the foll ow ng.
From around May 27, 1998 until around January 30, 1999, Sol esbee
devi sed and intended to devise a schene and artifice to defraud

Wade Sonmmer of funds and property. Sol esbee persuaded Somrer to



i nvest $30, 000 I n a Florida ~corporation named Sonmer
Commruni cations. I n exchange, Sonmer was to own fifty percent of the
conpany, with the remaining fifty percent owned by a trust of which

Sol esbee was the beneficiary. Sommer Conmmuni cations was to operate

“Lasting | npressions,”an answeri ng servi ce busi ness in Tal | ahassee,

Florida. Solesbee was to operate “Custom Communications,” an

answering service business in Fort Mers, Florida, which was

purchased by Answer USA of Georgi a.

To persuade Sommer to invest his noney, Solesbee nade false

representations to Somrer. Sol esbee represented to Somer that
Sol esbee’s prior answering servi ce busi ness, Answer USA of Ceorgi a

had been debt free when in fact it owed nore than $150,000 to its

creditors. Sol esbee also represented to Sommer that he needed a
cashier’s check for $4,500 payable to Robert J. Fordham for the

pur chase of answering service equi pnent when t he noney was actually

to repay Fordham for a previous |oan. Along these |ines, Sol esbee

caused a $20,000 wire transfer to be nade from Sonmer’s account at

Bank of Anerica in Dallas, Texas, to Sommer’s account at First Union
Bank in Tall ahassee, Florida. Sol esbee al so caused a $10,000 wire
transfer to be made from Sonmmer’s account at Bank of Anerica in

Dal | as, Texas, to the account of Lasting |Inpressions at First Bank

of Tall ahasse in Tall ahassee, Florida, all in violation of 18

U S.C 81343. The jury charge adequately instructed the jury as to
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the all eged of fenses, and the jury found Sol esbee guilty on Counts

12 and 13.

Sent enci ng

The district court judge signed a judgnent referencing the
jury’s findings of guilt and pronounced a sentence of 60 nont hs each

on Counts 1 through 7, 10, 12, and 13; the judge pronounced a
sent ence of 97 nont hs each on Counts 8 and 11, the sentences on al

counts to run concurrently. The judge also inposed a restitution
obl i gati on of $857, 332 to be distributed anong several of Sol esbee’s

victins, but the court did not inpose any fine and announced t hat
the restitution obligation will not carry any interest. The court
further ordered a five year period of supervised rel ease and a $100
per count special assessnent, totaling $1,200. Solesbee tinely

appeal ed.

| SSUES

Sol esbee rai ses several issues on appeal.

1. Sol esbee argues that the district court should have given
the jury an instruction to disregard and shoul d have decl ared a

m strial based on testinony by a governnment witness that inplied

Sol esbee’s sexual orientation to the jury.

2. Sol esbee argues that the district court inproperly admtted
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evi dence of “extrinsic transactions.”

3. Sol esbee argues that the evidence is insufficient to sustain

his conviction as to Counts 1, 2, 4, 8, 10, 11, 12, and 13.

4. Sol esbee argues that the district court erred in charging
the jury on Count 8 that the underlying activity for the charged
money | aundering was wire fraud instead of bankruptcy fraud,

t hus constructively anendi ng the indictnent.

5. Sol esbee argues that the district court erred by consi dering
his conviction as to Count 8 in sentencing because venue for

Count 8 was not proper in the Northern District of Texas.

6. Sol esbee argues that the district court erred in ordering
Sol esbee to pay restitution to three persons who Sol esbee argues

were not harned by any of fense of which Sol esbee was convi ct ed.

7. Sol esbee argues that the district court erred in using

certain loss figures in analyzing the sentencing guidelines.

W will address each of Sol esbee’'s clains in turn.
ANALYSI S
1. Whet her this court should reverse based on the district

court’s refusal to give an instruction to disregard or grant a
mstrial because of testinony by a governnent wtness that

comuni cat ed Sol esbee’s sexual orientation to the jury

Ms. Parks, a witness for the governnent, was a forner enpl oyee
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of Sol esbee who also happened to live in Sol esbee’s apartnent
conplex. Ms. Parks eventually quit her job and noved out of the

apartnent. During the governnent’s direct exam nation of Ms. Parks,

the foll owi ng exchange t ook pl ace.

Q Didyou nove out first or did you quit your job first?

A | noved out first.

Q Wy did you nove out?

A Wll, | was awakened in the nmddle of the
night with banging on ny wall. And the next
morning | found out that he brought this guy
home that he met at a bar.

Sol esbee’'s  Attorney: (Objection, Your Honor. My |
approach the bench?

The Court: Yes.

Sol esbee’s Attorney: Your Honor, it’s obvious
to ne that they are trying to go into sone
kind of honpbsexual incident. They can’'t do
that. | don’'t see what that has to do wth
anything in the trial other than prejudicial
to M. Sol esbee.

The Court: | don’'t see.

Governnent Attorney: I'mtrying to showthat he
is not who he is portrayed to everyone. He is
portrayed to everyone that he is a genuine

m ssionary kid when, in fact, he's not.

The Court: Well, I'mgoing to sustain the objection.
Governnent Attorney: Ckay.
(Open Court)

Sol esbee’'s  Attorney: Your Honor, my | have an
instruction for the jury to disregard?

The Court: |’'ve sustained the objection to that question.
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Sol esbee’'s Attorney: Mve for a mstrial, Your Honor.

The Court: I'msorry?

Sol esbee’'s Attorney: Mve for a mstrial, Your Honor.

The Court: That's deni ed.

Sol esbee argues that the district court’s refusal to give an

instruction to disregard and declare a mstrial violated Federal
Rul es of Evidence (“FRE’) 403 and 404. Along these |lines, Sol esbee
al so argues that the evidence was so prejudicial that its erroneous
adm ssion rendered the trial fundanentally unfair, thus violating

his right to due process.

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.
United States v. Col eman, 997 F.2d 1101, 1104 (5'" Cir. 1993). The
grant or denial of a mstrial is also reviewed under an abuse of
di screti on standard. United States v. WIlis, 6 F.3d 257, 263
Further, the harm ess error rule dictates that any error that does
not affect the defendant’s substantial rights nust be disregarded.

FED. R CRIM PrRoC. 52(a).

FRE 404(b) provides that “[e]vidence of other crines, wongs,
or acts is not adm ssible to show action in conformty therewith.”
Initially, the district court judge did not admt the evidence in
question; thus, the court did not violate FRE 404. Further, no one
has argued that Sol esbee’s sexual orientation in any way indicates

that he is nore or less likely to defraud others. Thus, there is
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not a colorable argunent that this testinony coupled with the
judge’s refusal to give an instruction to disregard or to grant a

m strial violates FRE 404.

FRE 403 provides that evidence should be excluded if its
probative value is substantially outwei ghed by a danger of unfair
prejudi ce. Courts have recognized that evidence of a defendant’s
honmosexual ity is prejudicial and should be excluded in many
situations. See, e.qg., People of Territory of Guamv. Shymanovitz,
157 F.3d 1154, 1160 (9'" Cir. Guam 1998) (concluding that adnmitting
contents of gay nmmgazines “served only the highly inproper and
of fensive purpose of advising the jury that [defendant] was
probably honpbsexual ”); United States v. Gllespie, 852 F.2d 475
479 (9" Cir. 1988) (“evidence of honpsexuality is extrenely

prejudicial”).

But the district court judge here did exclude the proffered
evi dence. The cases Sol esbee cites in support of his argunent for
reversal are inapposite. They involve cases in which the district
court admtted evidence regardi ng the defendant’ s honosexual ity and
cases in which the jury was nuch nore likely to nmake an i nproper
inference of guilt based on evidence of the defendant’s
honosexual i ty. See Shymanovitz, 157 F.3d 1154 (reversing
conviction of crimnal sexual assault involving children because
district court admtted evidence of sexually-explicit gay

magazines); Gllespie, 852 F.2d 475 (reversing conviction for
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transportation of a person in interstate commerce for illegal
sexual purposes because the district court admtted evidence of
def endant’ s honpbsexual ity); United States v. Ham 998 F. 2d 1247 (4!
Cr. 1993) (district court allowed two days of evidence regarding
charges of child nolestation within the defendants’ Hare Krishna
comunity and testinony on defendant’s honobsexual relationship);
United States v. Provoo, 215 F.2d 531 (2™ CGir. 1954) (district
court allowed irrelevant testinony regardi ng defendant’s all eged
honmosexual ity; the governnent attenpted to justify it as relevant
to credibility); United States v. Birrell, 421 F.2d 665 (9" Gr.
1970) (per curiam (district court refused to grant mstrial in
conviction for auto theft after governnent counsel, in closing,
argued that defendant should be in jail “where he bel ongs”i nstead
of being turned “l oose on society” because he “will be a honosexual

and a car thief ... for the rest of his life”).

Again, in this case the district court sustained Sol esbee’s
objection to the testinony in question. The court also instructed
the jury inits charge that the jury should only consi der evi dence
admtted in trial and should not specul ate about matters not in
evidence. Additionally, substantial evidence of Sol ebee’ s guilt
was admtted throughout the course of the trial. There is no
reason to believe that the jury found Sol esbee guilty on nmultiple
counts of fraud based on one vague reference to his honosexuality.

Thus, there was no reason for the district court to declare a
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mstrial.

While an instruction to disregard may have been warranted
here, the failure to give one was not an abuse of discretion. The
court sustained Sol esbee’s objection to the proferred testinony.
The court also instructed the jury only to consider admtted
evi dence, and there was anpl e evi dence i ndi cati ng Sol esbee’ s guilt.
Thus, far from rendering the trial “fundanentally wunfair” as
Sol esbee contends, the district court’'s failure to give an
instruction to disregard this one vague reference to Sol esbee’s
honmosexual ity was harm ess and thus does not require reversal.

2. Whether this court should reverse based on Sol esbee’s

argunent that the district court inproperly admtted evi dence of
“extrinsic transactions”

Sol esbee next argues that the district court inproperly
admtted evidence of extrinsic transactions not alleged in the
i ndi ct nent . As noted above, FRE 404(b) states that evidence of
ot her crinmes, wongs, or acts is not adm ssible to show action in
conformty therewwth. The rule goes on to state that such evi dence
“may, however, be adm ssible for other purposes, such as proof of
notive, opportunity, i ntent, preparati on, pl an, know edge,

identity, or absence of m stake or accident.” FEDR EviD. 404(Db).

Extrinsic evidence is properly admtted under FRE 404(b) only

if: 1) it is relevant to an issue other than the defendant’s
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character, and 2) its probative value is not substantially
out wei ghed by its undue prejudice. United States v. Leahy, 82 F. 3d
6724, 636 (5" Cir. 1996) (citing United States v. Beechum 582 F. 2d
898, 911 (5'" Cir. 1978) (en banc)). Again, evidentiary rulings are

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Col eman, 997 F.2d at 1104.

Sol esbee conpl ai ns about the adm ssion of testinony from 21
different wtnesses. Unfortunately, Solesbee does not offer
speci fic explanations as to why each portion of the conpl ai ned- of
testi nony was i nproper; he just argues generally that none of them
fit within the FRE 404(b) exceptions. A review of the conpl ai ned-
of testinony reveals that a significant portion of it was actually
relevant to the charged offenses. Several of the w tnesses had
| oaned noney to Solesbee prior to his filing bankruptcy in
Septenber 1995, had not been paid back, and were not |isted as
creditors, thus indicating that the bankruptcy petition was sinply
filed to delay losing the hone in Dallas, as detailed in the facts
relevant to Count 1, and not for the purpose of providing debt
relief. Sol esbee conplains of the adm ssion of |IRS records
i ndicating that the Gal |l oway Special Trust did not file tax returns
from 1992 to 2000; but this evidence helps establish that the
docunents provided in relation to the purchase of the honme i n Count
1 were fraudulent. Sonme of the other conpl ai ned-of w tnesses had
| oaned noney to Answer USA of Georgia that had not been repaid

this informati on was rel evant to Sol esbee’ s m sl eadi ng of Somer as
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to the financial situation of Answer USA of Georgia, as outlined in

the facts relevant to Counts 12 and 13.

The rest of the conpl ai ned-of testinony was rel evant to show
Sol esbee’s intent. Evidence of simlar extrinsic offenses is
relevant to show intent. See Leahy, 82 F.3d at 636-36 (holding
that evidence that the defendants had previously submtted false
invoices to an air force base and a naval air station was rel evant
to show that they had the requisite intent to defraud the VA);
United States v. OGsum 943 F. 2d 1394, 1404 (5'" Gr. 1991) (allow ng
evi dence of extrinsic offenses because they are rel evant based on
“the defendant’ s indulging hinself in the same state of mnd in the

perpetration of both the extrinsic and charged of fenses”).

At trial, Sol esbee argued that he did not try to defraud
anyone but that he was sinply a bad businessman. [In his opening

statenent, Sol esbee’s attorney argued:

St ephen Sol esbee, | believe the evidence will show,
was a | egitimate busi nessnman, not a very successful
one |'Il admt, but a legitinmate businessnman. He
wasn’ t defraudi ng anyone.... [H e couldn’t organize
a Sunday School picnic. He didn't have the
ability. You' ve seen it. He’s not busting out
answering services. He doesn’t know how to run
t hem

Thus, Sol esbee’s defense placed the focus on whether or not

Sol esbee had the requisite intent for the charged offenses.

Much of the conpl ai ned-of testinony rel ated to house purchases

and t el ecommuni cati on conpany schenes simlar to those enpl oyed by
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Sol esbee in the charged offenses. Additionally, inits charge to

the jury, the district court instructed the jury that Sol esbee “is
not on trial for any act, conduct, or offense not alleged in the
Indictnent. The fact that [ Sol esbee] may have been accused of any
ot her offense may not be considered by you for any purpose.” In
closing, the prosecutor argued that the jury could consider the
evidence of other offenses for the “limted purpose” of show ng
t hat Sol esbee “had the intent to commt the crinmes that are charged
in the indictnment.” Sol esbee objected to that argunent as being
contrary to the court’s charge, and the court overruled that
objection. Thus, the jury was aware that it could not consider the
evi dence of these other acts for any purpose ot her than considering
how they beared on Sol esbee’s intent. The adm ssion of the

evi dence of these other acts was not an abuse of discretion and

does not require reversal.

3. VWhether the evidence is insufficient to sustain his
conviction as to Counts 1, 2, 4, 8, 10, 11, 12, and 13

Sol esbee argues that the evidence is insufficient to sustain
his conviction as to Counts 1 (bankruptcy fraud), 2 (wre fraud),
4 (wre fraud), 8 (noney |aundering), 10 (wire fraud), 11 (bank
fraud), and 12-13 (both wire fraud). As to an insufficiency of the
evidence claim the inquiry for this court is whether the evidence,
viewed in the |ight nost favorable to the verdict, would permt a

reasonable juror to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. United
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States v. Querrero, 169 F.3d 933, 939 (5'" Gr. 1999).

As to Sol esbee’s conviction for bank fraud under Count 11,
Sol esbee argues, and t he governnment concedes, that proof of federal
i nsurance of Bank One is an essential elenment to the offense of
bank fraud and is required for federal jurisdiction. United States
v. Schultz, 17 F.3d 723, 725 (5" Gir. 1994). It is undisputed that
no evidence was introduced establishing that Bank One was a
federally-insured institution. The evidence is therefore
insufficient to support this conviction, and the district court was
W thout jurisdiction as to this count. Thus, Sol esbee’s conviction

for bank fraud is reversed.

Sol esbee’s argunents regarding the insufficiency of the
evidence as to the other counts are unavailing. A review of the
relevant portions of the indictnent as well as the evidence
introduced at trial relevant to each of these counts reveal s that
the evidence would permt a reasonable juror to find guilt beyond
a reasonabl e doubt on each of these counts.

4. Whet her the district court erred in charging the jury on

Count 8 that the wunderlying activity for the charged noney
| aundering was wire fraud i nstead of bankruptcy fraud

Sol esbee argues that the district court constructively anended
the indictnent as to Count 8. A constructive anendnent occurs when
the trial court, through its instructions and facts it permts in

evi dence, allows proof of an essential elenent of a crinme on an
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alternative basis permtted by the statute but not charged in the
indictment. United States v. Giffin, 324 F.3d 330, 355 (5" Cir.
2003) (citations omtted). As Sol esbee agrees, because he did not
object to the jury instructions on this basis, this issue is
reviewed for plain error. United States v. Daniels, 252 F.3d 411,
414 (5" Cir. 2001). A jury charge constitutes plain error if: 1)
it was erroneous; 2) the error was plain; and 3) the plain error
affected the substantial rights of the defendant. Id. |If those
conditions are net, the court wll exercise its discretion to
correct the error only if the error “seriously affect[s] the
fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicia

proceedi ngs.” Id.

As expl ai ned above, the i ndi ctnent charged Sol esbee wi t h noney
| aundering, with the underlying specified unlawful activity being
bankruptcy fraud. But the jury instructions changed the underlying
specified unlawful activity to wire fraud, thus constructively
anmendi ng the indictnent. Thus, the question is whether this error

rises to the level of plain error.

This court has held constructive anmendnents to be harnless in
sone circunstances. For exanple, in US v. Daniels, the
i ndi ctment charged Daniels with noney |aundering by causing the
w t hdrawal of stolen funds from a bank account; but the court’s
charge woul d have permtted the jury to convict Daniels based on

either that withdrawal or the deposit of a stolen check. 252 F.3d
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at 413. The court refused to reverse under the plain error
st andard because Daniels could have been charged under either the
deposit or wthdrawal theory and because the two acts were so
closely linked. 1d. at 414. Thus, the court concluded that the
fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicia

proceedi ngs were not affected.

The error commtted by the district court here did not affect

the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial
pr oceedi ngs. The jury convicted Solesbee on Count 7, the
bankruptcy charge that was listed in the indictnent as the

predi cate of fense for Count 8. The jury al so found Sol esbee guilty
of noney | aundering; this neans that the jury found that Sol esbee
was attenpting to hide the funds in question. As the jury’'s
convi ctions under Counts 7 and 8 enconpass jury findings as to al

the requisite elenents of Count 8 as charged in the indictnent, it
is a certainty that the jury would have found Sol esbee guilty of
Count 8 as charged in the indictnent. Because Sol esbee was put on
notice to defend the bankruptcy fraud charge and the noney
| aundering charge as outlined in the indictnment and the jury
findings lead to the necessary conclusion that the jury found him
guilty of all the elenents of Count 8 as charged, Sol esbee was not
prejudi ced by the constructive anendnent. Thus, the constructive
anendnent did not affect the fairness, integrity or public

reputation of the judicial proceedings, and reversal is not
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required.

5. \Wether the district court erred by considering Sol esbee’s
conviction as to Count 8 in sentencing because venue for Count
8 was not proper in the Northern District of Texas

Sol esbee al so challenges Count 8 on the basis of inproper
venue. The cashier’s check was drawn on an account in Florida and
deposited into an account in Georgia. The funds never passed
through the Northern District of Texas. Thus, the crine did not
occur in the Northern District of Texas, rendering venue in the
Northern District of Texas i nproper. See United States .
Cabrales, 524 U S. 1 (1998) (concluding that proper venue for noney
|l aundering lies in the state in which the financial transactions
occurred). Al questions concerning venue are reviewed under an
abuse of discretion standard. United States v. Asibar, 109 F.3d

1023, 1037 (5'" Cr. 1997).

The governnment responds that Sol esbee waived his challenge to
venue by not raising it tinely. Generally, objections to venue are
waived if not raised before trial. United States v. Carreon-
Pal aci o, 267 F.3d 381, 391 (5'" Cir. 2001). There are, however,
situations in which the failure to raise a challenge to venue pre-
trial does not waive such a challenge. Failure to object before
trial will not bar a challenge to venue when trial testinony puts
venue at issue and the defendant makes a tinely challenge or

requests a jury instruction on venue. Carreon-Pal acio at 392
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Simlarly, when an indictnent contains an allegation of proper
venue and the defect in venue only beconmes apparent during the
governnent’s case, the defendant can nake a tinely objection by
objecting at the close of the evidence. ld. at 392-93. But a
defendant indicted by an instrunent that |acks sufficient
allegations to establish venue waives any future challenge by

failing to object before trial. Id.

Sol esbee’ s objection to venue was not tinely. The indictnent
stated that the offense took place in the Northern District of
Texas, but fromthe facts of the indictnent it was clear that the
transaction only occurred in Florida and Ceorgia. Thus, the
inpropriety of venue was apparent fromthe face of the indictnent
and should have been raised before trial. Sol esbee objected to
venue for the first tinme at sentencing, asking the district court
to disregard the | oss as to the noney | aunderi ng convi cti on because
venue was i nproper. Thus, even under the exceptions to the general
rul e, Sol esbee’ s objection would not have been tinely as it was not
made at the close of the evidence. Solesbee waived any chall enge

to venue by not making a tinely objection.

6. Whet her the district court erred by ordering Sol esbee to
pay restitution to three persons who, Sol esbee argues, were not
harmed by any of fense of which Sol esbee was convi cted

The district court ordered Sol esbee to pay $857,332.00 in

restitution to a nunber of people and organizations. Sol esbee
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objected to the restitution order at sentencing, arguing three of
the persons to be conpensated under the restitution order were not
named in the indictnment and thus were not entitled to restitution.

Hi s obj ection was overrul ed.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 3663(a) provides that the court may order the
defendant to nmke restitution to any victim of the offense.

Section 3663(a)(2) defines victim as:

a person directly and proximately harned as a
result of the conmm ssion of an offense for which
restitution nmay be ordered including, in the case
of an offense that involves as an elenent of a
schene, conspiracy, or pattern of crim nal
activity, any person directly harnmed by the
defendant’s crimnal conduct in the course of the
schene, conspiracy, or pattern.

Simlarly, this court has already held that victins not named in
the indictnent nay be conpensated under a restitution order when
those victins’ |osses were caused by a fraudul ent schene outlined
inthe indictnent. United States v. Pepper, 51 F.3d 469, 473 (5'"
Cir. 1995). The legality of the district court’s restitution award
is reviewed de novo. United States v. Hughey, 147 F.3d 423, 436

(51" Gir. 1998).

Sol esbee argues that, while there was testinony presented at
trial about | osses suffered by these three individuals, the | osses
were not caused by any conduct for which Sol esbee was convi cted.
But a review of the facts surroundi ng Sol esbee’ s defraudi ng of each

of these three persons reveals that each of these persons is
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properly considered a victimunder section 36663(a)(2). Each of
t hese persons was either 1) directly and proximately harnmed as a
result of the comm ssion of an offense for which Sol esbee was
convicted or 2) directly and proximately harnmed by Sol esbee’s
conduct in the course of a schene that was an el enent of an of f ense
for which Sol esbee was convicted. Thus, the district court did not

err in ordering restitution for these individuals.

7. Whet her the district court erred in using certain |oss
figures in analyzing the sentenci ng guidelines

Finally, Sol esbee asserts that, in analyzing the sentencing
guidelines, the district court inproperly used |loss figures that
were not alleged in the indictnent and that were not shown to be
part of a common schene or plan as the offenses for which Sol esbee
was convicted. Sol esbee generally alleges that the | osses of the
21 witnesses, whose testinony he conplained of in issue nunber 2,

did not stemfrom®“rel evant conduct,” as defined in the sentencing
gui del i nes. Unfortunately, Solesbee does not articulate any
speci fic argunent as to why each of these | osses does not stemfrom
rel evant conduct. As Sol esbee has not properly argued this point

of error, it is deemed abandoned. United States v. Lindell, 881

F.2d 1313, 1325 (5'" Gir. 1989).

CONCLUSI ON

Sol esbee’s conviction for Bank Fraud under Count 11 is
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REVERSED. Sol esbee’s convictions on all of the other counts are
AFFI RMED, as are the restitution order and the sentence pronounced

by the district court.
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